Measurement Properties of Functional Activity and Quality of Life Questionnaires in Children with Fibromyalgia

Master of Public Health Integrating Experience Project Professional Publication Framework

Larisa Tshantshapanyan, MD, PhD, MPH Candidate

Advisor: Lusine Abrahamyan, MD, MPH, PhD (c) Reader: Varduhi Petrosyan, MS, PhD

American University of Armenia College of Health Sciences

Yerevan, Armenia 2009

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor Dr. Lusine Abrahamyan for unconditional support, insightful comments and valuable contribution to this work. Her endless enthusiasm, readiness to share the knowledge and skills made this project possible. I would like to express my special gratitude to my reader Dr. Varduhi Petrosyan for her continuous support and encouragement, valuable comments, and the knowledge and experience she shared with us during the whole studying process.

I would like to thank Dr. Brian Feldman for support and interest in my project.

I would like to thank my family and friends for their understanding and patience.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgmentsi
Abstractiii
INTRODUCTION 1
Fibromyalgia Impact Trial 2
Study instruments
Aim of the Current Study
METHODS
Construct validity
Reliability6
Responsiveness
RESULTS
DISCUSSION9
REFERENCES
Table 1. Study instruments 19
Table 2. Patient characteristics at enrollment *
Table 3. Correlation coefficients between measurement scales 21
Table 4. Reliability analysis of measurement scales 22
Table 5. Responsiveness of measurement scales 23
Table 6. Rank ordering of responsiveness 24
Figure 1. Bland and Altman plot of PedsQL worst pain scores
Figure 2. Bland and Altman plot of PedsQL fatigue scores

Abstract

Objectives: The study evaluated the measurement properties of functional activity and quality of life questionnaires in children with fibromyalgia(FM) using the population of children with FM involved in a randomized controlled pilot trial of an aerobic exercise program (Fibromyalgia Impact Trial).

Methods: Children with FM (8-18 years old, n=30) participated in three sessions of testing (two preintervention and one postintervention) 2-6 weeks apart for the Fibromyalgia Impact Trial. The participants completed the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire (C-HAQ), the Quality of My Life (QOML) scale, the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory (PedsQL) fatigue and pain score, the Functional Status and Symptom Questionnaire (FSSQ), the Childhood Depression Inventory (CDI), and the Habitual Activity Estimation Scale (HAES) at testing times. We evaluated the validity, reliability, and responsiveness of these questionnaires. For construct validity, we estimated the Spearman correlation coefficient between the scales. The test-retest reliability was evaluated by calculating the intrarater intraclass correlation coefficient, the limits of agreement and the standard error of measurement with the 95% confidence intervals between test 1 and test 2. Responsiveness of each scale was assessed using the effect size and the standardized response mean.

Results: The PedsQL fatigue score demonstrated high test-retest reliability and responsiveness. Negative strong significant correlation was seen between the scores of fatigue measured by PedsQL and depression measured by CDI. CDI showed the highest test-retest reliability and moderate responsiveness. C-HAQ total score with 8 domains demonstrated excellent agreement and poor responsiveness. Correlation between fatigue measured by PedsQL and overall rating of illness by C-HAQ was moderate to strong in magnitude and negative in direction.

Conclusion: Functional activity and quality of life scales can be used effectively for patient reported outcomes among children with FM. However, investigators should be aware of the limitations of instruments used for evaluation of patient reported outcomes in this population. Further research is needed with larger sample size to support the results of the current study.

INTRODUCTION

Fibromyalgia (FM) is a common chronic condition characterized by a chronic defining feature of widespread pain and presence of tender points. Yunus and Masi first described the juvenile primary fibromyalgia syndrome (1). Over the past two decades, FM has emerged as a leading cause of visits to rheumatologists. The reported prevalence of FM is between 2 and 7% in most nations, with a female to male ratio of approximately 9:1 (2-5). Although there are limited epidemiological data about the prevalence of FM in children, FM accounts for approximately 7–8% of new patient diagnoses in pediatric rheumatology clinical practice (1, 3-17). FM in pediatric patients is more common in girls than in boys which is consistent with the literature regarding adult patients (3, 4, 9, 13, 14, 18).

FM is often accompanied by a range of non-specific symptoms such as fatigue, sleep disturbances, mood disorders, irritable bowel syndrome, and headache (8, 11-14). Studies support the assumption that patients with FM are deconditioned due to both inactivity and disease process (11, 19-22). The establishment of a diagnosis of FM is based on disease history, exclusion of other causes of symptoms, verbal self-report of symptoms, and physical examination (4, 8, 9, 18). The lack of physiological markers of disease activity for FM complicates the clinical decision-making process, since the treating physician cannot monitor the course of the illness with objective disease indicators that are available for other rheumatologic diseases such as juvenile idiopathic arthritis (1, 6-8, 12, 23). Given the lack of objective findings on the physical examination or laboratory tests that confirm the treatment effect and the extent of disease severity (5, 9, 11, 13, 14, 23).

Taking into consideration the lack of objective outcome measures and the existence of emerging new therapies for FM, the importance of having reliable and valid patient reported outcome instruments for FM is paramount. The aim of this study was to evaluate the measurement properties of functional activity and quality of life questionnaires in children with fibromyalgia. The specific objectives were to investigate the validity, reliability, and responsiveness of the functional activity and quality of life questionnaires using the population of children with FM involved in a randomized controlled trial of aerobic exercise program (Fibromyalgia Impact Trial). The results of the clinical trial have been published previously (26).

Fibromyalgia Impact Trial

The following is the short description of the study population, intervention, outcomes, and instruments used in the study.

Patients. The study involved 30 children ages 8–18 years diagnosed with FM from rheumatology and pain clinics of the Hospital for Sick Children and Bloorview Kids Rehab in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. The patient's attending rheumatologist confirmed the diagnosis of FM using the criteria of the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) (24, 25). Patients with minimum tender point count of five were eligible for the study (1, 25). Patients were excluded if they had cardiopulmonary disease, unstable disease (defined as receiving an unstable dose of medication), engaged in three or more hours of physical activity per week, or unable to cooperate with testing procedures. The Research Ethics Boards at the Hospital for Sick Children and Bloorview Kids Rehab approved the study. Fully informed written consent was obtained from all children and their parents.

Intervention. Patients completed a once-weekly supervised session and twice-weekly unsupervised sessions of an aerobic or qigong program with 12 week overall duration. Trained instructors led the exercise programs.

Outcomes. The main objective of the study was to determine the feasibility of an aerobic exercise program in children with FM by evaluating the adherence and recruitment (26). The secondary objectives of the study were to identify the effect of the interventions on measures in physical fitness, FM symptoms, and physical function in children with FM. Physical fitness was defined by peak aerobic capacity, muscular power, and metabolic efficiency.

Data were collected during 3 exercise testing sessions: familiarization (Test 1) at the time of enrollment, baseline (Test 2) 2 to 6 weeks later, and posttest (Test 3) within 2 weeks of completion of the intervention program. The intervention was implemented after the second test. Between first and second testing no intervention was present. Cardiorespiratory fitness and physiological, functional and activity outcomes of each participant were assessed at each testing(26).

Study instruments. During each testing session, to assess the effect of the exercise intervention on FM symptoms and physical activity outcomes, patients completed the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire (C-HAQ) (27-30), the Quality of My Life (QOML) scale, the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory (PedsQL) fatigue and pain score (31-35), the Functional Status and Symptom Questionnaire (FSSQ) (36-40), the Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ)(41-44), the Childhood Depression Inventory (CDI) (45-47), and the Habitual Activity Estimation Scale (HAES) (17, 48). Table 1 presents the short description of main domains and measurement methods of the instruments used in the current study.

The C-HAQ has 8 functional domains evaluating eating, dressing and grooming, walking, arising, hygiene, reach, activities, and grip. A summary score is given for 8 functional activity domains and is rated on a 3-point scale (where 0 indicates no limitations and 3 indicates severe limitations) (27-30). The overall well-being of the patient over the past week, the severity of illness and pain severity is also measured by 10-cm Visual Analog Scale (VAS).

Overall quality of life (QOL) and health-related quality of life (HRQOL) were measured by the QOML scale on separate 10-cm VAS (where lower scores indicating worse QOL/HRQOL and higher scores indicating better QOL/HRQOL) (49-51).

The PedsQL fatigue module is validated for use in children and teenagers with FM. A summary score is given based on 3 fatigue domains and is rated on a 5-point ordinal scale (where 0 indicates never and 4 indicate almost always). Higher scores indicate better outcomes. The PedsQL pain scale has been validated to quantify pain levels in children with rheumatic diseases. The questionnaire consists of two 10-cm VAS measuring present pain and the worst pain experienced in the past week (where higher scores indicate worse pain) (31-35).

The modified FIQ is a health status questionnaire adapted from the adult version FIQ for children with FM. The modified FIQ includes 9 scales measuring function, depression, anxiety, pain, stiffness, fatigue, and sleep quality (41-44).

The CDI is a depression symptom scale validated for use in children aged 7–17 years. The index consists of 27 items with regard to different aspects of depressive symptoms. The items are scored on a 3-point scale (0 - 2), where higher scores indicate worse depression (45-47).

The HAES questionnaire is a physical activity questionnaire in which children are asked to recall physical activity on a typical weekday and weekend day during the past 2 weeks. Activity is categorized into 1 of 4 intensity categories: inactive, somewhat inactive, somewhat active, and

very active. Respondents report about time spent in each of the 4 categories to calculate summary scores of total activity (TA) hours ("somewhat active" plus "active") and total very active hours scores (VAS) separately for weekends and weekdays (17, 48).

The FSSQ evaluates change in FM symptoms and determines the impact of FM symptoms on activities of daily living using a 4-point ordinal scale (where 0 indicates unable to do and 3 indicates no difficulty) to rate degree of difficulty for each task by marking a 10-cm VAS.

Aim of the Current Study

The purpose of the current study was to evaluate the validity, reliability, and responsiveness of functional activity and quality of life instruments of FM patients using the data from the Fibromyalgia Impact Trial using different statistical approaches for the assessment of each measurement property.

METHODS

Construct validity

Data from baseline assessment (Test 2) was used to assess the construct validity. The study used the nonparametric Spearman correlation coefficient to assess the correlation between the scales because of a small sample size and potentially skewed distribution of values. Correlation coefficients were interpreted based on guidelines by Cohen (52) suggesting a correlation less than 0.10 as small, 0.30 as moderate, and 0.50 as large.

The following hypotheses were tested for construct validity:

1. There will be moderate correlation between the child's pain measured by PedsQL and pain assessed by the parent using C-HAQ.

2. There will be a negative strong correlation between total physical activity hours measured by HAES and depression measured by CDI.

3. There will be a moderate correlation between depression measured by CDI and overall quality of life measured by QOML.

4. There will be a strong correlation between the overall quality of life and health related quality of life measured by QOML.

5. There will be strong correlation between fatigue measured by PedsQL and total C-HAQ.

Reliability

Results of Test 1 and 2 were used to estimate the test-retest reliability using type 3 intrarater intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC_{3,1}). An ICC of 0.61-0.80 was considered to indicate a substantial agreement while an ICC >0.80 indicated an excellent agreement (53, 54). Paired differences between Test 1 and Test 2 were plotted against the average of the two tests in accordance with Bland and Altman method (55-57). Limits of agreement (LOA) were calculated as twice the standard deviation of the mean paired difference (55, 57). The standard error of measurement (SME) was SD $\sqrt{1-ICC}$, with the 95% confident intervals (95% CI) (58).

Responsiveness

The responsiveness of the instruments was evaluated using the results from the baseline (Test 2) and follow-up tests (Test 3) by estimating the standardize response mean (59) and the effect size (52). The standardized response mean (SRM) was the mean change in scores divided by the standard deviation of change in scores. The effect size (ES) was the mean change in

scores divided by the standard deviation of the baseline scores (52). The values of SRM and ES around 0.2 are generally considered to be small, around 0.5 moderate, and 0.8 large (59).

The data were analyzed using SPSS 12.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL) statistical software.

The Research Ethics Boards at The Hospital for Sick Children and Bloorview Kids Rehab approved the study protocol.

RESULTS

The clinical trial recruited thirty children diagnosed with FM from The Hospital for Sick Children and Bloorview Kids Rehab in Toronto, Ontario, Canada between October 2005 and April 2007. Table 2 summarizes demographic data of patients from two intervention groups (qigong and aerobics) (26).

Construct validity. Table 3 presents the nonparametric Spearman correlation coefficients (r_s) describing relationships between the measured outcomes by all instruments and their domains.

The worst pain scores by PedsQL were significantly strongly associated with pain scores of the C-HAQ(r=.58; p=.001). Correlations between the fatigue measured by PedsQL and overall rating of illness by C-HAQ (r=.31; p=.09) and scores from 8 domains by C-HAQ (r=.31; p=.098) were moderate in magnitude and negative in direction. The present pain scores by PedsQL were significantly strongly associated with pain scores of the C-HAQ(r=.58; p=.001). Correlation between present pain scores by PedsQL and pain scores by C-HAQ VAS scale was low and not significant (r=.252; p=.18).

Correlation between depression measured by CDI and overall quality of life measured by QOML was negative in direction and moderate to high in magnitude (r=.3; p=.1). Negative

strong significant correlation was seen between the scores of fatigue measured by PedsQL and depression measured by CDI (r=.58; p=.001). Moderate to strong correlation was observed between QOL and HRQL scales (r=.452; p=.012).

Correlation analysis demonstrated a negative strong significant correlation between total physical activity hours measured by HAES and C-HAQ VAS scores (r=.578; p=.001). The correlation was strong between total physical activity hours measured by HAES and overall rating of illness by C-HAQ scales (r=.522; p=.003).

The study detected moderate to strong negative significant association between worst pain measured by PedsQL and mean scores for all items and symptom by FSSQ (r=.362; p=.049) and total physical activity hours measured by HAES (r=.365; p=.047).

Reliability. Table 4 presents the results for reliability testing. Children Depression Inventory showed the highest test-retest reliability and little change from Test 1 to Test 2 (ICC_{3,1} =0.86). The PedsQL fatigue scale and the C-HAQ total score from 8 domains demonstrated high test-retest reliability (excellent agreement: ICC_{3,1} was 0.83 and 0.82, accordingly) and little change from Test 1 to Test 2 (Table 4).

The HAES physical activity questionnaire showed high reliability for weekends (ICC_{3,1} =0.8102) and low reliability for week days (ICC_{3,1}=0.45). In a separate analysis of the HAES (results not presented), less variability was seen for weekdays very active hours (ICC_{3,1}=0.68-substantial agreement) but more for weekends (ICC_{3,1}=0.26).

The PedsQL worst pain scale and C-HAQ VAS scores demonstrated very low, negative testretest reliability (ICC_{3,1}=-0.0773 and ICC_{3,1}=-0.2610, accordingly). The Functional Status and Symptom Questionnaire results showed high variability in FM symptoms severity VAS and mean scores (ICC_{3,1}=-0.23 and ICC_{3,1}=-0.053, accordingly). Low test-retest reliability was observed for overall QOL and health-related QOL (ICC_{3,1}=0.16 and ICC_{3,1}=0.2, accordingly).

Figures 1 and 2 present Bland and Altman plots of PedsQL fatigue and worst pain last week scores. Small improvement in PedsQL fatigue scores were noted from Test 1 to Test 2 (Figure 1). This study detected small improvement in PedsQL worst pain last week scores from Test 1 to Test 2 (Figure 2).

Responsiveness. Table 5 shows the responsiveness of each scale measured by standardized response mean (SRM) and effect size (ES). Table 6 presents the rank ordering of responsiveness based on these statistics.

C-HAQ demonstrated relatively high responsiveness indices in both scales with the highest scores in overall rating of illness by proxies (SRM=0.58, ES=0.75), and health-related quality of life by patients (SRM=-0.57, ES=-0.83). Among the PedsQL scales, fatigue scores had moderate to high responsiveness (SRM=-0.41, ES=-0.41), while worst pain score demonstrated high indices in all calculated responsiveness' indices (SRM=-0.43, ES=-0.85).

The lowest responsiveness indices were seen in HAES scales for both scores. The FSSQ showed high responsiveness with SRM=0.7, ES=0.94 for symptom scores, and SRM=0.6, ES=1.1 for mean scores.

DISCUSSION

Fibromyalgia, as a chronic musculoskeletal pain syndrome with no identifiable cause and no physiological markers of disease activity, represents a significant challenge in the clinical

decision-making process. The treating physician cannot monitor the course of the illness with objective disease indicators; it mainly dependents on patient self-report (33, 60).

There is an abundance of instruments to measure "quality of life" or "health status". When selecting an instrument for the use in medical research, one should evaluate its appropriateness for the target population and the type of intervention, the reliability, validity and measurement efficiency for detecting differences of the size expected to occur between groups. The findings of the current study indicated that the functional activity and quality of life scales show weaknesses to varying extents in children with FM.

As expected, patient-reported "worst pain" scores by PedsQL were significantly strongly associated with pain VAS scores of the C-HAQ rated by parents. However, correlation between 'present pain scores' by PedsQL and pain scores by C-HAQ VAS scale was lower than expected. One potential reason is that our patients with FM may not be truly "stable" because 'present pain' in FM is quite a variable symptom, and the differing responses may reflect true fluctuations in disease manifestation. Low to moderate associations were observed between FSSQ scores rated degree of difficulty for each task of children and C-HAQ results scored by parent in correlation analysis.

Health professionals usually use parents as a child's proxy. They may have a better understanding of the health issues being investigated and the content of the questionnaire than the child, but it is the patient's experience that must be the main focus (61). It is known that, for rheumatology, parents' ratings of disease activity are only moderately correlated with actual disease activity. For function, parent-completed measures achieve only a modest correlation with responses by the child (33, 62). Pediatric patient-reported outcomes should be considered as the standard for HRQOL measurement in pediatric clinical trials in which patient health-

10

related quality of life is investigated in FM (63-65). This way, the voices of the children will be heard in matters pertaining to their health and well-being given the perspective that some symptoms are known only to the patient (66, 67).

Correlations between fatigue measured by PedsQL and overall rating of illness by C-HAQ scores were moderate to strong in magnitude and negative in direction. As predicted, correlation between depression measured by CDI and overall quality of life measured by QOML was negative in direction and moderate in magnitude. More importantly, as hypothesized, the study observed negative strong significant correlation between the scores of fatigue measured by PedsQL and depression measured by CDI.

Correlation analysis demonstrated a negative strong significant association between total physical activity hours measured by HAES and pain scales of C-HAQ. Furthermore, this study detected strong correlation between total physical activity hours measured by HAES and overall rating scores of severity of illness by C-HAQ scales. Moderate to strong negative significant association was seen between worst pain measured by PedsQL and mean scores for all items and symptom by FSSQ and total physical activity hours measured by HAES. The findings of this study are consistent with previous research suggesting the marked impact recurrent pain has on multiple domains of functioning in children (68-70).

Previous studies provided evidence that among patients with FM with moderate to severe pain, greater pain severity before treatment was associated with worse HRQOL (71). However, the correlation analysis in the current study between scores of pain by PedsQL and C-HAQ with QOL and HRQOL showed low association. The correlation between QOML scale and HRQL scale was moderate to strong. Differences in the findings from previous studies and this study could be related to the fact that people with chronic illness might have different quality of life priorities or concerns (72, 73).

Reliability is one of the important requirements of health measurement scales. Children Depression Index showed the highest test-retest reliability and little change from Test 1 to Test 2. High test-retest reliability and little change from Test1 to Test 2 demonstrated PedsQL fatigue and worst scales, C-HAQ total score from 8 domains, and the HAES physical activity questionnaire for weekend hours.

Reliability analysis detected low test-retest reliability in overall QOL and health-related quality of life (HRQOL) measured by the QOML separate VAS scale. This study found that the FSSQ results showed high variability in FM symptoms severity and mean scores and low test-retest reliability. Furthermore, in this study, the PedsQL worst pain scale and C-HAQ VAS scores demonstrated negative test-retest reliability. Differences in the findings from previous studies and the present study may stem from the potential confounders including diet, circadian variations, and ambient temperature (74).

Responsiveness is an important criterion when choosing a health measurement scale (59). Highly responsive scales are preferred because they allow clinical trials to be performed with smaller sample size (52). Responsive scales may be particularly important when comparing different types of treatment where the differences are expected to be much smaller than the changes of more radical treatments such as surgery.

This study suggested that C-HAQ demonstrated relatively high responsiveness indices in both scales with the highest scores in overall rating of illness by proxies, and health-related quality of life by patients. Among the PedsQL scales fatigue scores have generally moderate to high responsiveness, while worst pain score demonstrated relatively high indices in both

12

calculated responsiveness' indices. The lowest responsiveness indices were seen in HAES scales for all scores. The ranked ordering of responsiveness indices provided evidence that the FSSQ scale is the highest responsive scale. Nevertheless, a gold standard for change for the functional disability is lacking, and the scale with the greatest responsiveness may not always be measuring change which is important to patients (59).

The results of this study should be interpreted within the limitations of the study. The sample size for this study was relatively small. Although the sample size does not impact validity and reliability coefficients, it reduces the power of statistical tests associated with them (75, 76). The small sample size in this pilot trial may also limit the generalizability of the results. Furthermore, this study used data collected from participants recruited from rheumatology clinics. Therefore, the generalizability of results to other settings (e.g., primary care) and no treatment seeking samples cannot be ascertained based on these data.

In conclusion, the study used a small sample of patients to evaluate the validity, reliability, and responsiveness of functional activity and quality of life questionnaires in children with FM. The findings of the current study indicated that each functional activity and quality of life scales provide a measurement approach that has a great potential as outcome measures in the clinical setting regarding the physical functioning and activity among children with FM. However, investigators should be aware of limitations of the instruments used for evaluation of patient reported outcomes in this population, and instruments should be chosen cautiously in accordance with the needs of the study and peculiarities of the target population to meet the objectives of the study. Further research is needed to support the results of the current study.

13

REFERENCES

1. Yunus MB, Masi AT. Juvenile primary fibromyalgia syndrome. A clinical study of thirty-three patients and matched normal controls. Arthritis Rheum 1985;28(2):138-45.

2. Hughes G, Martinez C, Myon E, Taieb C, Wessely S. The impact of a diagnosis of fibromyalgia on health care resource use by primary care patients in the UK: an observational study based on clinical practice. Arthritis Rheum 2006;54(1):177-83.

3. Sardini S, Ghirardini M, Betelemme L, Arpino C, Fatti F, Zanini F. [Epidemiological study of a primary fibromyalgia in pediatric age]. Minerva Pediatr 1996;48(12):543-50.

4. Buskila D, Neumann L, Hershman E, Gedalia A, Press J, Sukenik S. Fibromyalgia syndrome in children--an outcome study. J Rheumatol 1995;22(3):525-8.

5. Bennett RM, Jones J, Turk DC, Russell IJ, Matallana L. An internet survey of 2,596 people with fibromyalgia. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2007;8:27.

6. Romano TJ. Fibromyalgia in children; diagnosis and treatment. W V Med J 1991;87(3):112-4.

7. Buskila D. Fibromyalgia in children--lessons from assessing nonarticular tenderness. J Rheumatol 1996;23(12):2017-9.

8. Siegel DM, Janeway D, Baum J. Fibromyalgia syndrome in children and adolescents: clinical features at presentation and status at follow-up. Pediatrics 1998;101(3 Pt 1):377-82.

9. Eraso RM, Bradford NJ, Fontenot CN, Espinoza LR, Gedalia A. Fibromyalgia syndrome in young children: onset at age 10 years and younger. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2007;25(4):639-44.

10. Kasapcopur O, Tengirsek M, Ercan G, Yologlu N, Caliskan S, Sever L, et al. Hypermobility and fibromyalgia frequency in childhood familial Mediterranean fever. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2004;22(4 Suppl 34):79.

11. Michels H, Gerhold K, Hafner R, Hauser W, Illhardt A, Monkemoller K, et al. [Juvenile fibromyalgia syndrome]. Schmerz 2008;22(3):339-48.

12. Roizenblatt S, Tufik S, Goldenberg J, Pinto LR, Hilario MO, Feldman D. Juvenile fibromyalgia: clinical and polysomnographic aspects. J Rheumatol 1997;24(3):579-85.

13. Anthony KK, Schanberg LE. Juvenile primary fibromyalgia syndrome. Curr Rheumatol Rep 2001;3(2):165-71.

14. Baldursdottir S. [Juvenile primary fibromyalgia syndrome--review]. Laeknabladid 2008;94(6):463-72.

15. Clark P, Burgos-Vargas R, Medina-Palma C, Lavielle P, Marina FF. Prevalence of fibromyalgia in children: a clinical study of Mexican children. J Rheumatol 1998;25(10):2009-14.

16. Reid GJ, Lang BA, McGrath PJ. Primary juvenile fibromyalgia: psychological adjustment, family functioning, coping, and functional disability. Arthritis Rheum 1997;40(4):752-60.

17. Stephens S, Singh-Grewal D, Bar-Or O, Beyene J, Cameron B, Leblanc CM, et al. Reliability of exercise testing and functional activity questionnaires in children with juvenile arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2007;57(8):1446-52.

18. Buskila D, Sarzi-Puttini P. Biology and therapy of fibromyalgia. Genetic aspects of fibromyalgia syndrome. Arthritis Res Ther 2006;8(5):218.

19. Schanberg LE, Keefe FJ, Lefebvre JC, Kredich DW, Gil KM. Pain coping strategies in children with juvenile primary fibromyalgia syndrome: correlation with pain, physical function, and psychological distress. Arthritis Care Res 1996;9(2):89-96.

20. Kashikar-Zuck S, Parkins IS, Graham TB, Lynch AM, Passo M, Johnston M, et al. Anxiety, mood, and behavioral disorders among pediatric patients with juvenile fibromyalgia syndrome. in press.

21. Gedalia A, Press J, Klein M, Buskila D. Joint hypermobility and fibromyalgia in schoolchildren. Ann Rheum Dis 1993;52(7):494-6.

22. Conte PM, Walco GA, Kimura Y. Temperament and stress response in children with juvenile primary fibromyalgia syndrome. Arthritis Rheum 2003;48(10):2923-30.

23. Breau LM, McGrath PJ, Ju LH. Review of juvenile primary fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue syndrome. J Dev Behav Pediatr 1999;20(4):278-88.

24. [1990 classification criteria of fibromyalgia from the American College of Rheumatology. Report of the Multicenter Criteria Committee]. Union Med Can 1990;119(5):272.

25. Wolfe F, Smythe HA, Yunus MB, Bennett RM, Bombardier C, Goldenberg DL, et al. The American College of Rheumatology 1990 Criteria for the Classification of Fibromyalgia. Report of the Multicenter Criteria Committee. Arthritis Rheum 1990;33(2):160-72.

26. Stephens S, Feldman BM, Bradley N, Schneiderman J, Wright V, Singh-Grewal D, et al. Feasibility and effectiveness of an aerobic exercise program in children with fibromyalgia: results of a randomized controlled pilot trial. Arthritis Rheum 2008;59(10):1399-406.

27. el Miedany YM, Youssef SS, el Gaafary M. Cross cultural adaptation and validation of the Arabic version of the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire for measuring functional status in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2003;21(3):387-93.

28. Bruce B, Fries JF. The Stanford Health Assessment Questionnaire: dimensions and practical applications. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2003;1:20.

29. Huber AM, Hicks JE, Lachenbruch PA, Perez MD, Zemel LS, Rennebohm RM, et al. Validation of the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire in the juvenile idiopathic myopathies. Juvenile Dermatomyositis Disease Activity Collaborative Study Group. J Rheumatol 2001;28(5):1106-11.

30. Lam C, Young N, Marwaha J, McLimont M, Feldman BM. Revised versions of the Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire (CHAQ) are more sensitive and suffer less from a ceiling effect. Arthritis Rheum 2004;51(6):881-9.

31. Scarpelli AC, Paiva SM, Pordeus IA, Ramos-Jorge ML, Varni JW, Allison PJ. Measurement properties of the Brazilian version of the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory (PedsQL) cancer module scale. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2008;6:7.

32. Scarpelli AC, Paiva SM, Pordeus IA, Varni JW, Viegas CM, Allison PJ. The pediatric quality of life inventory (PedsQL) family impact module: reliability and validity of the Brazilian version. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2008;6:35.

33. Varni JW, Burwinkle TM, Limbers CA, Szer IS. The PedsQL as a patient-reported outcome in children and adolescents with fibromyalgia: an analysis of OMERACT domains. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2007;5:9.

34. Neumann L, Buskila D. Quality of life and physical functioning of relatives of fibromyalgia patients. Semin Arthritis Rheum 1997;26(6):834-9.

35. Burckhardt CS, Anderson KL. The Quality of Life Scale (QOLS): reliability, validity, and utilization. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2003;1:60.

36. Berglund B, Nordstrom G. Symptoms and functional health status of individuals with Ehlers-Danlos syndrome (EDS). J Clin Rheumatol 2001;7(5):308-14.

37. Culos-Reed SN, Brawley LR. Fibromyalgia, physical activity, and daily functioning: the importance of efficacy and health-related quality of life. Arthritis Care Res 2000;13(6):343-51.
38. Sokka T. Assessment of pain in patients with rheumatic diseases. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2003;17(3):427-49.

39. Bourdette DN, McCauley LA, Barkhuizen A, Johnston W, Wynn M, Joos SK, et al. Symptom factor analysis, clinical findings, and functional status in a population-based case control study of Gulf War unexplained illness. J Occup Environ Med 2001;43(12):1026-40.

40. Wolfe F. The relation between tender points and fibromyalgia symptom variables: evidence that fibromyalgia is not a discrete disorder in the clinic. Ann Rheum Dis 1997;56(4):268-71.

41. Bennett R. The Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ): a review of its development, current version, operating characteristics and uses. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2005;23(5 Suppl 39):S154-62.

42. Fallon J, Bujak DI, Guardino S, Weinstein A. The Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire: a useful tool in evaluating patients with post-Lyme disease syndrome. Arthritis Care Res 1999;12(1):42-7.

43. Rivera J, Gonzalez T. The Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire: a validated Spanish version to assess the health status in women with fibromyalgia. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2004;22(5):554-60.

44. Henriksen M, Lund H, Christensen R, Jespersen A, Dreyer L, Bennett RM, et al. Relationships between the fibromyalgia impact questionnaire, tender point count, and muscle strength in female patients with fibromyalgia: A cohort study. Arthritis Rheum 2009;61(6):732-739.

45. Han C, Masand PS, Krulewicz S, Peindl K, Mannelli P, Varia IM, et al. Childhood abuse and treatment response in patients with irritable bowel syndrome: a post-hoc analysis of a 12-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of paroxetine controlled release. J Clin Pharm Ther 2009;34(1):79-88.

46. Martin AL, McGrath PA, Brown SC, Katz J. Anxiety sensitivity, fear of pain and painrelated disability in children and adolescents with chronic pain. Pain Res Manag 2007;12(4):267-72.

47. Palermo TM, Witherspoon D, Valenzuela D, Drotar DD. Development and validation of the Child Activity Limitations Interview: a measure of pain-related functional impairment in school-age children and adolescents. Pain 2004;109(3):461-70.

48. Wells GD, Wilkes DL, Schneiderman-Walker J, Elmi M, Tullis E, Lands LC, et al. Reliability and validity of the habitual activity estimation scale (HAES) in patients with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol 2008;43(4):345-53.

49. Feldman BM, Grundland B, McCullough L, Wright V. Distinction of quality of life, health related quality of life, and health status in children referred for rheumatologic care. J Rheumatol 2000;27(1):226-33.

50. Lovell DJ, Lindsley CB, Rennebohm RM, Ballinger SH, Bowyer SL, Giannini EH, et al. Development of validated disease activity and damage indices for the juvenile idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. II. The Childhood Myositis Assessment Scale (CMAS): a quantitative tool for the evaluation of muscle function. The Juvenile Dermatomyositis Disease Activity Collaborative Study Group. Arthritis Rheum 1999;42(10):2213-9.

51. Moorthy LN, Peterson MG, Harrison MJ, Onel KB, Lehman TJ. Physical function assessment tools in pediatric rheumatology. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2008;6:9.

52. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd ed. 1988; Hillsdale, J: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

53. Lee J. Evaluating agreement between two methods for measuring the same quantity: a response. 1992.

54. Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics 1977;33:159-74.

55. Brazdzionyte J, Macas A. Bland-Altman analysis as an alternative approach for statistical evaluation of agreement between two methods for measuring hemodynamics during acute myocardial infarction. Medicina (Kaunas, Lithuania) 2009;43(3):208-214.

56. Lee J, Koh D, Ong CN. Statistical evaluation of agreement between two methods for measuring a quantitative variable. Comput Biol Med 1989; 19(6170):21.

57. Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement.[see comment]. 1986.

58. Ottenbacher KJ, Johnson MB, Hojem M. The significance of clinical change and clinical change of significance: issues and methods. [Review] [27 refs]. 1988.

59. Liang M, Fossel AH, Larson MC. Comparisons of five health status instruments for orthopedic evaluation. Med Care 1990;7:632-642.

60. Connelly M, Rapoff MA. Assessing health-related quality of life in children with recurrent headache: reliability and validity of the PedsQLTM 4.0 in a pediatric headache sample. Journal of Pediatric Psychology 2006;31:698-702.

61. Cunningham JM, Chiu EJ, Landgraf JM, Gliklich RE. The health impact of chronic recurrent rhinosinusitis in children. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2000;126:1363-8.

62. Varni JW, Burwinkle TM, Berrin SJ, Sherman SA, Artavia K, Malcarne VL, et al. The PedsQL in pediatric cerebral palsy: reliability, validity, and sensitivity of the Generic Core Scales and Cerebral Palsy Module. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2006;48(6.):442-9.

63. Varni JW, Burwinkle TM, Seid M, Skarr D. The PedsQL 4.0 as a pediatric population health measure: feasibility, reliability, and validity. Ambul Pediatr. 2003;3(6):329-41.

64. Varni JW, Burwinkle TM, Szer IS. The PedsQL Multidimensional Fatigue Scale in pediatric rheumatology: reliability and validity. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(12):2494-500.

65. Varni JW, Limbers CA, Burwinkle TM. Parent proxy-report of their children's healthrelated quality of life: an analysis of 13,878 parents' reliability and validity across age subgroups using the PedsQL 4.0 Generic Core Scales. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2007;5(2).

66. Varni JW, Limbers CA, Burwinkle TM. How young can children reliably and validly self-report their health-related quality of life?: an analysis of 8,591 children across age subgroups with the PedsQL 4.0 Generic Core Scales. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes. 2007;5(1).

67. Varni JW, Sherman SA, Burwinkle TM, Dickinson PE, Dixon P. The PedsQL Family Impact Module: preliminary reliability and validity. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2004;2(55).

68. Bille B. Migraine in children and its prognosis. Cephalalgia. 1981;1:71-75.

69. Steiner T. Lifting the burden: The global campaign against headache. Lancet. Neurology, 2004;3(4):204-205.

70. Holden EW, Levy JD, Deichmann MM, Gladstein J. Recurrent pediatric headaches: Assessment and intervention. Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics. 1988;19(2):109-116.
71. Bennett RM, Schein J, Kosinski MR, Hewitt J., Jordan MD, NR R. Impact of Fibromyalgia pain on Health-Related Quality of Life before and after treatment with tramadol/acetaminophen. Arthritis& Rheumatism (Arthritis Care &Research) 2005;53(4):519-527. 72. Flanagan J. A research approach to improving our quality of life. Am Psychologist 1978; 33:138-147.

73. Flanagan J. Measurement of the quality of life: Current state of the art. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1982;63:56-59.

74. Frost G, Bar-Or O, Dowling J, White C. Habituation of children to treadmill walking and running metabolic and kinetic criteria. Pediatric Exercise Science. 1995;7(2).

75. Powers S, Patton S, Hommel K, Hershey A. Quality of life in paediatric migraine: Characterization of age-related effects using PedsQLTM 4.0. Cephalalgia. 2004;24(2):120-127.

76. Powers S, Patton S, Hommel K, Hershey A. Quality of life in childhood migraines:

Clinical impact and comparison to other chronic illnesses. Pediatrics. 2003;112(1):e1-e5.

Table 1. Study instruments

Name	Domains & Measurement
Pediatric Quality of Life inventory	Fatigue: summary score of 3 fatigue
(PedsQL)	domains rated on a 5-point ordinal scale
	Present pain: 10 cm VAS
	Worst pain last week: 10 cm VAS
Childhood Health Assessment	Total: Sum of 8-functional activity domains
Questionnaire (C-HAQ)	(0-3 scale of each domain)
	Overall well being: (10 cm VAS)
	Pain (parent): 10 cm VAS
	Illness (parent): 10 cm VAS
Quality of My Life (QOML)	Overall QOL: 10 cm VAS
	Health related QOL: 10 cm VAS
Habitual Activity Estimation Scale	Total activity hours, weekday
(HAES)	Total activity hours, weekend
Childhood Depression Inventory (CDI)	27 items on a 3-point scale (mean score)
Functional Status and Symptom	Symptom score: mean score on 10 cm VAS
Questionnaire (FSSQ)	Mean score: mean degree of difficulty for
	all activities (0-4 difficulty scale)

Table 2. Patient	characteristics at	enrollment*
------------------	--------------------	-------------

Characteristic	Qigong group (n = 16)	Aerobics group (n = 14)
Age, years	12.9 ± 2.7	13.6 ± 1.8
Female, no. (%)	12 (75)	10 (71.4)
Height, cm	153 ± 13.4	159 ± 8.4
Weight, kg	49 ± 17.0	62 ± 10.5
BMI, kg/m ²	21.5 ± 11	19.2 ± 7.1
Number of FM tender	10.6 ± 3.8	10.5 ± 4.2

* Values are the mean \pm SD unless otherwise indicated. BMI-= body mass index; FM = fibromyalgia.

Measurement Scales	Tender point	PedsQL fatique	PedsQL pain 1	PedsQL pain 2	QOL	HRQOL	C-HAQ severity of illness	C-HAQ pain VAS	C-HAQ overall	C- HAQ total	HAES TA week da	HAES TA weekend	CDI	FSSQ symptom	FSSQ mean
Tender point	-	423*	336	070	276	.087	124	196	050	.142	082	.161	.233	.303	.101
PedsQL fatique	423	-	.049	.031	.190	.202	029	001	309	308	.189	.078	59**	134	.070
PedsQL pain 1	336	.049	-	.457*	.081	.213	.358	.252	.254	.021	.120	087	149	.446*	.411*
PedsQL pain 2	070	.031	.457*	-	.048	069	.484***	.579**	.249	205	211	365*	174	.182	.362*
QOL	276	.190	.081	.048	-	.452 [*]	047	019	147	.041	.070	.216	300	.168	.170
HRQOL	.087	.202	.213	069	.452*	-	.156	.092	.002	160	.052	.222	309	.152	065
C-HAQ severity of illness	124	029	.358	.484*	047	.156	-	.778***	.435*	.070	024	457**	101	.138	.145
C-HAQ pain VAS	196	001	.252	.579*	019	.092	.778**	-	.520**	.217	231	578**	177	.282	.331
C-HAQ overall	050	309	.254	.249	147	.002	.435*	.520**	-	.307	265	522**	.296	.313	230
C-HAQ total	050	308	.021	205	.041	160	.070	.217	.307	-	302	286	.035	.343	.102
HAES TA week day	082	.189	.120	211	.070	.052	024	231	265	302	-	.414*	102	.136	.163
HAES TA weekend	.161	.078	087	365*	.216	.222	457*	578**	522**	286	.414*	-	183	201	197
CDI	.233	588**	149	174	300	309	101	177	.296	.035	102	183	-	145	193
FSSQ symptom	.303	134	.446*	.182	.168	.152	.138	.282	.313	.343	.136	201	145	-	.828***
FSSQ mean	.101	.070	.411*	.362*	.170	065	.145	.331	230	.102	.163	197	193	.828***	-

 Table 3. Correlation coefficients between measurement scales

***p<0.001**p<0.01; *p<0.05 C-HAQ = Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire; VAS = visual analog scale; QOL = quality of life; HRQOL = health-related quality of life; PedsQL = Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory: pain 1 = present pain, Pain 2 = worst pain; HAES = Habitual Activity Estimation Scale; TA = total activity; SA = somewhat active; VA = very active CDI = Children Depression Index; FSSQ = Functional Status and Symptom Questionnaire;

Measurement Scales	Test 1	Test 2	Paired	ICC	LOA	SEM	95% CI
			difference				of SEM
Tender point	10.59 ± 4.57	10.63 ± 4.171	04 ± 2.65	0.82	± 5.30	.511	±1.2
PedsQL fatique	801.85 ± 289.4	827.78 ± 290	-25.93 ± 168.63	0.83	± 337.26	.69	± 1.38
PedsQL pain 1	4.60 ± 2.91	4.48 ± 2.94	$.11 \pm 3.58$	0.26	±7.16	3.08	±6.17
PedsQL pain 2	7.69 ± 2.78	7.19 ± 1.67	$.50 \pm 3.37$	-0.08	±6.74	.65	± 1.298
QOL	7.14 ± 2.36	7.08 ± 2.52	$.055 \pm 3.17$	0.16	±6.34	2.90	± 5.80
HRQOL	5.22 ± 2.30	4.61 ± 2.26	$.60 \pm 2.88$	0.20	± 5.78	2.59	±5.18
C-HAQ illness	5.33 ± 2.69	4.62 ± 2.60	$.71 \pm 3.53$	0.11	± 7.06	3.33	±6.66
C-HAQ pain VAS	5.76 ± 2.75	5.51 ± 2.45	$.24 \pm 4.12$	-0.26	± 8.24	4.63	±9.25
C-HAQ overall	3.65 ± 2.22	3.92 ± 2.35	27 ± 2.93	0.18	± 5.86	2.64	±5.29
C-HAQ total	$.65 \pm .540$	$.663 \pm .525$	02 ±. 28	0.86	±.56	.10	±.21
HAES TA week day	5.2 ± 3.1	5.6 ± 3.02	22 ± 2.17	0.45	±4.34	1.61	±3.21
HAES TA weekend	4.97 ± 3.65	5.13 ± 3.23	22 ± 2.17	0.81	±4.34	.65	±1.30
CDI	11.76 ± 9.95	10.82 ± 7.25	1.13 ± 4.69	0.86	±9.38	1.77	±3.55
FSSQ symptom	3.20 ± 1.95	3.64 ± 1.80	44 ± 2.33	0.23	±4.66	2.05	±4.09
FSSQ mean	4.94 ± 2.41	5.32 ± 1.73	37 ± 2.89	0.05	±5.78	2.81	±5.62

Table 4. Reliability analysis of measurement scales

* Values are the mean ± SD unless otherwise indicated. C-HAQ = Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire; VAS = visual analog scale; QOL = quality of life; HRQOL = health-related quality of life; PedsQL = Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory: pain 1 = present pain, Pain 2 = worst pain; HAES = Habitual Activity Estimation Scale; TA = total activity; CDI = Children Depression Index; FSSQ = Functional Status and Symptom Questionnaire; ICC = intraclass correlation coefficient; LOA = limits of agreement; SEM = standard error of measurement; 95% CI = 95% confidence interval.

Measurement Scales	Standardized response	Effect size
	mean	
Tender point	0.55	0.78
PedsQL fatique	-0.41	-0.41
PedsQL pain 1	0.26	0.31
PedsQL pain 2	0.43	0.85
QOL	-0.26	-0.30
HRQOL	-0.57	-0.83
C-HAQ severity of illness	0.30	0.42
C-HAQ pain VAS	0.48	0.74
C-HAQ overall	0.58	0.75
C-HAQ total	0.41	0.31
HAES TA week day	-0.05	-0.06
HAES TA weekend	-0.02	-0.03
CDI	0.33	0.29
FSSQ symptom	0.70	0.94
FSSQ mean	0.60	1.00

Table 5. Responsiveness of measurement scales

*C-HAQ = Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire; VAS = visual analog scale; QOL = quality of life; HRQOL = Health-related quality of life; PedsQL = Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory: pain 1 = present pain, Pain 2 = worst pain; HAES = Habitual Activity Estimation Scale; TA = total activity; CDI = Children Depression Index; FSSQ = Functional Status and Symptom Questionnaire

Table 6.	Rank	ordering	of	responsiveness
----------	------	----------	----	----------------

		Effect size			
Standardized r	esponse mean				
FSSQ symptom	0.70	FSSQ mean	1.00		
FSSQ mean	0.60	FSSQ symptom	0.94		
C-HAQ overall	0.58	PedsQL pain 2	0.85		
Tender point	0.55	HRQOL	-0.83		
HRQOL	-0.57	Tender point	0.78		
C-HAQ pain VAS	0.48	C-HAQ overall	0.75		
PedsQL pain 2	0.43	C-HAQ pain VAS	0.74		
C-HAQ total	0.41	C-HAQ severity	0.42		
PedsQL fatique	-0.41	PedsQL fatique	-0.41		
CDI	0.33	C-HAQ total	0.31		
C-HAQ severity	0.30	PedsQL pain 1	0.31		
PedsQL pain 1	0.26	QOL	-0.30		
QOL	0.26	CDI	0.29		
HAES TA week day	-0.05	HAES TA week day	- 0.06		
HAES TA weekend	-0.02	HAES TA weekend	-0.03		

*C-HAQ = Childhood Health Assessment Questionnaire; VAS = visual analog scale; QOL = quality of life; HRQOL = health-related quality of life; PedsQL = Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory: pain 1 = present pain, Pain 2 = worst pain; HAES = Habitual Activity Estimation Scale; TA = total activity; CDI = Children Depression Index; FSSQ = Functional Status and Symptom Questionnaire



Bland and Altman plot of worst pain scores(Test1&Test2)

Figure 1. Bland and Altman plot of PedsQL worst pain scores

The paired difference between Test 1 and 2 is represented on the vertical axis, while the paired average is represented on the horizontal axis. The solid line is the overall paired average. The broken lines represent 2 SDs above and below the overall average and are therefore the limits of agreement. Under a normal distribution we would expect ~ 95% of the data to fall between these limits.



Bland and Altman plot of PedsQL fatigue scores

Figure 2. Bland and Altman plot of PedsQL fatigue scores

The paired difference between Test 1 and 2 is represented on the vertical axis, while the paired average is represented on the horizontal axis. The solid line is the overall paired average. The broken lines represent 2 SDs above and below the overall average and are therefore the limits of agreement. Under a normal distribution we would expect ~ 95% of the data to fall between these limits.